71532-1

No. 71532-1-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JORGE LIZARRAGA,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LILA J. SILVERSTEIN Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711 lila@washapp.org

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

 The trial court violated Mr. Lizarraga's rights under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments by prohibiting him from examining Detective Gee about a witness's report that a different person killed the victim.

 The conviction on count one violated Mr. Lizarraga's right to a unanimous jury verdict guaranteed by article I, section 21 of the Washington Constitution.

3. The trial court violated Mr. Lizarraga's Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment rights by instructing the jury, over Mr. Lizarraga's objection, that a reasonable doubt is "one for which a reason exists."

4. The trial court erred by admitting unreliable fingerprint and ballistics "matching" evidence that is not generally accepted in the relevant scientific community.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

 The Fourteenth Amendment guarantees the right to due process and the Sixth Amendment guarantees the rights to present a defense, to present favorable witnesses, and to cross-examine adverse witnesses.
 Only one witness identified Jorge Lizarraga as the shooter in this case.
 Another witness identified Hugo Vaca Valencia as the shooter, but that

witness was deported before trial without prior notice to defense counsel, and a material witness warrant was not properly executed. Did the trial court violate Mr. Lizarraga's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights by denying his motion to examine the lead detective about this witness's identification of someone else as the shooter?

2. Article I, section 21 of the Washington Constitution guarantees the right to a unanimous jury verdict. Mr. Lizarraga was charged in count one with intentional murder and felony murder in the alternative. There was no special verdict form stating which crime the jury found the State proved beyond a reasonable doubt, and the jury was explicitly instructed that it did not have to agree that the State proved the elements of felony murder or intentional murder, so long as each juror thought the State proved the elements of at least one crime. Does the conviction on count one violate Mr. Lizarraga's right to a unanimous jury verdict, requiring reversal of the conviction on that count and remand for a new trial?

3. Telling a jury that it must provide a reason to acquit violates the Fifth Amendment right not to testify and the Fourteenth Amendment rights to the presumption of innocence and proof beyond a reasonable doubt. Over Mr. Lizarraga's objection, the trial court instructed the jury that a reasonable doubt is "one for which a reason exists." This is the portion of the instruction prosecutors have repeatedly relied on to violate

defendants' Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment rights, prompting this Court to reverse numerous convictions for prosecutorial misconduct. Did the trial court err in overruling Mr. Lizarraga's objection to this portion of the reasonable doubt instruction?

4. Scientific testimony is admissible only if (a) the witness qualifies as an expert, (b) the opinion is based upon an explanatory theory generally accepted in the relevant scientific community, and (c) the testimony will assist the trier of fact. Recent developments in forensic science, including the respected 2009 report of the National Academy of Sciences, show a significant dispute among forensic scientists regarding the scientific validity and reliability of latent fingerprint analysis and ballistics matching. Did the trial court err by denying a <u>Frye</u> hearing and denying Mr. Lizarraga's motions to exclude testimony that his fingerprints matched latent prints taken from the burglarized residence, and that shell casings were fired from the gun stolen from the residence?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 31, 2010 dozens of young people attended a Halloween party in Kent. RP (11/12/13) 55, 61. One of the attendees, Devin Topps, was a former high school football player who wore a

football uniform as a costume.¹ RP (11/12/13) 47-49. A group of young Hispanic men at the party made fun of Mr. Topps's costume, and a fight ensued. RP (11/12/13) 56; RP (11/19/13) 37-41. Although Mr. Topps was outnumbered, he was winning the fight because he was much bigger than the others. RP (11/12/13) 46, 79. While Mr. Topps was on top of one of the men he was fighting, another member of the pinned man's group shot Mr. Topps on the side of the back. RP (11/12/13) 154; RP (11/13/13) 66; RP (11/21/13) 163; RP (11/26/13) 57-58. Mr. Topps eventually died of his wound. RP (12/10/13) 172.

Most partygoers did not see the incident, and those who did provided conflicting descriptions of the shooter. RP (11/12/13) 169. Indeed, at least two witnesses said the shooter was wearing black while at least two others said the shooter was wearing white. RP (11/12/13) 100; RP (11/21/31) 120, 164; RP (11/26/13) 63.

Only two witnesses told police they could identify the shooter by name: one said the perpetrator was Jorge Lizarraga; the other said the perpetrator was Hugo Vaca Valencia. RP (11/12/13) 28; CP 368. A couple of months later, police found pictures of both of these young men holding the alleged murder weapon. RP (12/16/13) 34.

¹ The transcripts and other portions of the record in this case alternately spell Mr. Topps's first name as "Devin" and "Devon". Counsel believes "Devin" is correct, but is not absolutely certain.

The State charged Jorge Lizarraga with second-degree intentional murder and second-degree felony murder, with assault as the underlying felony. CP 245. Mr. Lizarraga was also charged with burglary for a separate incident, as well as several firearms-related counts. CP 245-47.

The witness who said Hugo Vaca Valencia was the shooter was deported before trial, while the witness who identified Mr. Lizarraga as the perpetrator testified. RP (11/12/13) 28; CP 370. For the murder charge, the court instructed the jury it did not have to agree that the State proved the elements of felony murder beyond a reasonable doubt or that the State proved the elements of intentional murder beyond a reasonable doubt, so long as each juror believed one crime or the other was proved. CP 528-29. The trial court admitted fingerprint and ballistics "matching" evidence over Mr. Lizarraga's objection that this evidence was no longer generally accepted in the field of forensic science. CP 34-120; RP (10/10/13) 63-67; RP (10/21/13) 25-35; RP (12/12/13) 5-9.

Mr. Lizarraga was convicted of all counts as charged, and sentenced to 457 months in prison. CP 377-91.

D. ARGUMENT

- 1. The trial court violated Mr. Lizarraga's rights under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments by prohibiting him from examining Detective Gee about a witness's report that a different person killed the victim.
 - a. Witness Jonathan Cervantes told police the shooter was Hugo Vaca Valencia, but detectives did not follow up with Mr. Cervantes and the government did not prevent him from being deported, did not notify defense counsel that he would be deported, and did not execute the material witness warrant.

The issue in this case was the identity of the shooter. Although there were many people at the party where Devin Topps was killed, most people claimed not to have seen the shooting. RP (11/12/13) 169. Of those who did witness the incident, the descriptions of the perpetrator varied significantly. One described the shooter as the person wearing a black Northface jacket. RP (11/12/13) 100. Another agreed that the perpetrator was wearing "all black." RP (11/21/31) 120. A third stated the opposite – that the killer wore "a plain white shirt." RP (11/21/13) 164. Another witness also stated that the shooter wore white. RP (11/26/13) 63.

Only Marlit Vela told police (and the jury) that Jorge Lizarraga fired the fatal shots. RP (11/12/13) 28. Yet she said Mr. Lizarraga was wearing a white shirt under a long-sleeve blue and white striped shirt – which was not the attire others described as that of the killer. RP (11/13/13) 92. Furthermore, Marlit Vela's good friend Vanessa Quiroz said that Mr. Lizarraga was wearing a white jacket that night. RP (12/3/13) 48.

Although Marlit Vela was the only one who identified Mr. Lizarraga as the shooter, one other witness did provide police with the name of the perpetrator. Less than two months after the incident, in December of 2010, Jonathan Cervantes told Detective Gee and the prosecutor that Hugo Vaca Valencia was the person who shot and killed Devin Topps. CP 368. Mr. Cervantes was in jail on assault charges, and the detective told Mr. Cervantes he could not make any promises to him about his own case in exchange for information. CP 368. Mr. Cervantes nevertheless told the detective and prosecutor what he saw, and named Hugo Vaca Valencia, not Jorge Lizarraga, as the perpetrator. CP 368-69.

Others also placed Mr. Vaca Valencia at the party that night, and described him as the person who started the fight. RP (11/13/13) 58-65. Consistent with Jonathan Cervantes's identification of Mr. Vaca Valencia as the shooter, one of the victim's best friends stated that the person who killed Mr. Topps was the person who started the fight – the one who had a scar on his face. RP (11/14/13) 29 (Hugo Vaca Valencia has a scar on his face); RP (11/26/13) 72 (Austin Daniels stated that person who started the

fight fired the shots); RP (11/25/13) 33 (Austin Daniels stated that person who fired the shots had a scar on his face).

.

Notwithstanding the critical nature of Mr. Cervantes's tip, the State did not follow up with Mr. Cervantes or ensure his presence for proceedings in this case. When Mr. Lizarraga's attorney attempted to interview Mr. Cervantes in January 2013, eleven months before trial, he was told Mr. Cervantes was at the Federal Detention Center. CP 369-70. However, when he and the prosecutor went to the facility to interview the witness, they were informed that he was no longer there. CP 370. Mr. Lizarraga's attorney attempted to locate Mr. Cervantes again in September, but the prosecutor told him Mr. Cervantes had been deported in July. CP 370. This was so even though the prosecutors could have obtained a stay of removal because Mr. Cervantes was a witness in a prosecution. 8 U.S.C. § 1231(c)(2)(A)(ii); 8 C.F.R. § 215.2; 8 C.F.R. § 215.3.

The prosecutor stated she understood that Mr. Cervantes was a "critical witness" for the defense. RP (10/3/13) 20. She was not concerned about his absence, though, because she thought that since he had family in the United States, he would likely try to return. She assured the court and counsel that Mr. Cervantes "would be fairly easy to find." RP (10/3/13) 20.

In early October, Mr. Lizarraga's attorney told the court that he still could not find Mr. Cervantes, despite having a Spanish-speaking investigator looking for him. He said, "Mr. Cervantes is important for us for the defense because he said to the police at or near the time of the shooting that he saw another person do the shooting, by name." RP (10/10/13) 49. On October 21, counsel updated the court, stating he still had been unable to track down Mr. Cervantes. RP (10/21/13) 51.

The next day, Mr. Lizarraga moved for and was granted a material witness warrant for Mr. Cervantes. CP 370; RP (10/22/13) 118-28; Supp. CP _____ (sub no. 126); Supp. CP _____ (sub no. 129). Defense counsel stated he did not know how to ensure that the warrant would get "into the electronic system so that the police [would] know about it." RP (10/22/13) 127. The clerk assured the judge and the parties, "I have a criminal department that I take all warrants to, and it's the same person every time, and he takes care and enters them all into the system." RP (10/22/13) 128. The court said, "So it will get taken care of as soon as I can sign it." RP (10/22/13) 128.

However, some administrative error occurred and law enforcement was not informed of the existence of the material witness warrant. CP 370. The warrant expired on December 10, 2013, and Mr. Cervantes was not produced for trial. CP 370.

Mr. Lizarraga accordingly moved for leave to examine Detective Gee about Jonathan Cervantes's identification of Hugo Vaca Valencia as the shooter. CP 368-70. Mr. Lizarraga noted that his constitutional rights to due process, to call witnesses in his behalf, and to present a defense must prevail over the state's hearsay rule. CP 369 (citing, inter alia, U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; <u>Holmes v. South Carolina</u>, 547 U.S. 319, 126 S.Ct. 1727, 164 L.Ed.2d 503 (2006); <u>Chambers v. Mississippi</u>, 410 U.S. 284, 93 S.Ct. 1038, 35 L.Ed.2d 297 (1973); <u>Washington v. Texas</u>, 388 U.S. 14, 87 S.Ct. 1920, 18 L.Ed.2d 1019 (1967)). The trial court nevertheless denied the motion on the basis that the statement did not fall within an exception to the rule against hearsay. RP (12/11/13) 103-14.

> b. <u>The trial court violated Mr. Lizarraga's rights under</u> the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments by denying <u>his motion to examine Detective Gee about</u> <u>Jonathan Cervantes's identification of the shooter</u>.

"Few rights are more fundamental than that of an accused to present witnesses in his own defense." <u>State v. Franklin</u>, 180 Wn.2d 371, 378, 325 P.3d 159 (2014) (quoting <u>Chambers v. Mississippi</u>, 410 U.S. 284, 302, 93 S.Ct. 1038, 35 L.Ed.2d 297 (1973)). This right is guaranteed by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, § 22; <u>Rock v. Arkansas</u>, 483 U.S. 44, 52,

107 S.Ct. 2704, 97 L.Ed.2d 37 (1987); <u>State v. Jones</u>, 168 Wn.2d 713, 720, 230 P.3d 576 (2010).

This constitutional right may not be abrogated by statute or court rule. For example, the U.S. Supreme Court held that a defendant's Sixth Amendment right to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor was violated by a rule prohibiting alleged accomplices from testifying for each other in criminal trials. <u>Washington v. Texas</u>, 388 U.S. at 23. The Court explained:

The right to offer the testimony of witnesses, and to compel their attendance, if necessary, is in plain terms the right to present a defense, the right to present the defendant's version of the facts as well as the prosecution's to the jury so it may decide where the truth lies. Just as an accused has the right to confront the prosecution's witnesses for the purpose of challenging their testimony, he has the right to present his own witnesses to establish a defense. This right is a fundamental element of due process of law.

<u>Id</u>. at 19.

Our state supreme court similarly held that an evidentiary statute could not trump the defendant's Sixth Amendment rights in Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 7210. There, the defendant was accused of rape, and his defense was that the complainant consented to intercourse during a drug-fueled sex party, where she also had sex with two other men. <u>Id</u>. at 717. The trial court found that the defendant's evidence was offered for the purpose of attacking the alleged victim's credibility, and was barred by the rape shield statute. <u>Id</u> at 717-18. The Supreme Court reversed. <u>Jones</u>, 168 Wn.2d at 725. It held the statute did not bar the evidence, but that even if it did, Jones's constitutional right to present a defense would take precedence over the statute. <u>Id</u> at 719-24.

The Court emphasized that "[t]he right of an accused in a criminal trial to due process is, in essence, the right to a fair opportunity to defend against the State's accusations." <u>Id</u>. at 720 (quoting <u>Chambers</u>, 410 U.S. at 294). Thus, so long as a defendant's proffered evidence is minimally relevant, the trial court may not exclude it unless the State proves "the evidence is so prejudicial as to disrupt the fairness of the fact-finding process at trial." <u>Jones</u>, 168 Wn.2d at 720. For evidence of high probative value, "no state interest can be compelling enough to preclude its introduction consistent with the Sixth Amendment and Const. art. I, § 22." <u>Id</u>. Following these rules, the Court held that because the proffered evidence regarding a consensual all-night sex party was "Jones's entire defense," the trial court violated the defendant's constitutional rights by excluding such evidence. <u>Id</u> at 721.

The same is true here. Mr. Lizarraga's defense was that he was not the shooter. RP (11/12/13) 32-36. The eyewitnesses provided descriptions of the shooter that directly conflicted, with at least two saying

the shooter wore black while at least two others said he was wearing white. Only one witness identified Jorge Lizarraga as the shooter. Jonathan Cervantes identified Hugo Vaca Valencia as the shooter, and the exclusion of this evidence violated Mr. Lizarraga's rights to due process and to present a defense under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments.

٠

Furthermore, Mr. Lizarraga's proposed remedy of introducing Mr. Cervantes's statement through the detective was a less drastic remedy than the usual sanction for loss of a material witness. Generally, the remedy for the State's failure to preserve material, exculpatory evidence is dismissal of the charge. <u>See People v. Valencia</u>, 218 Cal.App.3d 808, 267 Cal.Rptr. 257 (1990) (applying <u>United States v. Valenzuela-Bernal</u>, 458 U.S. 858, 102 S.Ct. 3440, 73 L.Ed.2d 1193 (1981) and affirming dismissal of a charge where witness who made material, exculpatory statement was deported without prior notice to the defense). If the trial court was disinclined to permit Mr. Lizarraga to examine Detective Gee about Jonathan Cervantes's identification of someone else as the shooter, it should have dismissed the charge altogether.

The Supreme Court explained the rules regarding the deportation of witnesses in <u>Valenzuela-Bernal</u>, <u>supra</u>. There, the defendant was detained for failing to stop at a Border Patrol checkpoint. <u>Valenzuela-</u> <u>Bernal</u>, 458 U.S. at 861. All three of his passengers told authorities that

that they were in the country illegally and that the defendant, Valenzuela-Bernal, was their driver. <u>Id</u>. Mr. Valenzuela-Bernal was charged with transporting an illegal alien. Prior to trial, two of the passengers were deported to Mexico, while the third was retained as a witness. The defendant moved to dismiss the indictment on the ground that the deportation of these witnesses violated his rights to due process and to compulsory process for obtaining favorable witnesses. <u>Id</u>.

The Supreme Court ruled that the defendant's constitutional rights were not violated by the removal of these witnesses because their statements were not exculpatory. The Court held that to establish a Sixth Amendment violation based on the deportation of witnesses, a defendant must "make some plausible showing of how their testimony would have been both material and favorable to his defense." <u>Valenzuela-Bernal</u>, 458 U.S. at 867.

The Court held that the rules under the Due Process Clause are similar, and that "at least the same materiality requirement obtains" with respect to that constitutional provision. <u>Id</u>. at 872. "Due process guarantees that a criminal defendant will be treated with that fundamental fairness essential to the very concept of justice." <u>Id</u>. (internal citation omitted). The Court reasoned that notions of fundamental fairness are not

offended by the deportation of witnesses "unless there is some explanation of how their testimony would have been favorable and material." <u>Id</u>.

As noted above, the California appellate court properly applied the rules of <u>Valenzuela-Bernal</u> in affirming the dismissal of a charge in <u>People v. Valencia</u>, 218 Ca.App.3d at 810-11. There, police officers found drugs and a gun at a house where multiple people lived. <u>Id</u>. at 811. Two of the inhabitants, Jose Valencia and Benjamin Alcala, were charged with crimes. <u>Id</u>. at 812. An officer's report indicated that Alcala said the gun in question belonged to Ricardo Avila. Nevertheless, the State charged Valencia with illegal possession of the firearm, along with other counts. Meanwhile, Alcala was deported to Mexico without prior notice to Valencia's attorney. <u>Id</u>. at 812.

The trial court granted Valencia's motion to dismiss all charges, and the appellate court affirmed the dismissal as to the firearm charge. The court recognized that the question is whether the defendant made "a plausible showing that the testimony of the deported [witness] would have been material and favorable to his defense, in ways not merely cumulative to the testimony of available witnesses." <u>Id</u>. at 825 (quoting <u>Valenzuela-Bernal</u>, 458 U.S. at 867). The court held the defendant met his burden under the "material and favorable" standard by showing that the deported witness told the officer that a person other than Valencia owned the gun.

<u>Id</u>. at 826-27. Because the prosecutor knew of this statement, yet failed to give Valencia advance notice of Alcala's deportation, dismissal of the charge was required. <u>Id</u>. at 827.

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