NO. 71532-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

FILED
Mar 24, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JORGE LIZARRAGA,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE JUDGE PATRICK OISHI

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG
King County Prosecuting Attorney

DENNIS J. McCURDY
Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney
W554 King County Courthouse
516 3rd Avenue
Seattle, Washington 98104
(206) 296-9000

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

Under Schad, the question becomes whether the legislature intended to create an alternative means crime. In Washington, for the crime of murder, that question was answered by State v. Fortune.¹⁰

Fortune was convicted of first degree murder. In returning a verdict as to whether Fortune was guilty of the crime charged, the jury was not required to agree unanimously on whether he premeditated the killing or committed the killing in the course of a robbery. Fortune, 128 Wn.2d at 466. On appeal, Fortune did not question the evidence supporting his conviction; he simply argued that the jury was required to be unanimous as to the means. The Supreme Court disagreed, stating “jurors can give a general verdict on that crime without giving express unanimity on which alternative means was employed by the defendant.” Id. at 467. The Court noted that as far back as 1939, the Court upheld the use of a general verdict where felony murder and premeditated murder are charged. Id. at 474 (citing State v. Talbott, 199 Wash. 431, 437-38, 91 P.2d 1020 (1939)) (felony murder and premeditated murder “merely charge the same offense in different ways”). And while having the jury find express unanimity as to alternative means may be useful in preventing a conviction from being

¹⁰ 128 Wn.2d 464, 909 P.2d 930 (1996).

overturned should there be insufficient evidence of one of the means, unanimity, the Court held, is not required. Id. at 475.¹¹

In support of his argument, the defendant quotes the following: “unanimity with respect to at least one of the theories by which the crime may be committed remains the minimum constitutional requirement for conviction.” Def. br. at 29 (quoting State v. Franco, 96 Wn.2d 816, 838 n.4, 639 P.2d 1320 (1982)). However, this quotation comes from the dissent, and it is in direction conflict with Fortune, *et al.*

The defendant also cites to a few out-of-state cases, relying heavily on State v. Boots, 308 Or. 371, 780 P.2d 725 (1989). In Boots, the Oregon Supreme Court held that under Oregon’s aggravated murder statute, jurors must be unanimous as to each aggravating factor charged. Reliance upon Boots is misguided. Shortly after Boots was decided, the Oregon Supreme Court limited the scope of Boots to the aggravated murder statute. State v. King, 316 Or. 437, 852 P.2d 190 (1993).

King was charged with driving under the influence by either having a blood alcohol level exceeding .08 or by being perceptibly impaired. The Court held that these were simply different circumstances

¹¹ See also State v. Arndt, 87 Wn.2d 374, 377-78, 553 P.2d 1328 (1976), holding that “it is unnecessary to a guilty verdict that there be more than unanimity concerning guilt as to the single crime charged,” overruling dictum in State v. Golladay, 78 Wn.2d 121, 470 P.2d 191 (1970) that stated in a felony murder case that “a conviction requires the jury agree upon one of the means charged.”

or ways of committing a single offense and thus the jurors did not need to be unanimous as to the means. King, 316 Or. at 446-47 (overruled in part on other grounds by Farmers Ins. Co. v. Mowry, 350 Or. 686, 697, 261 P.3d 1 (2011)); also State v. Duffy, 216 Or. App. 47, 51-54, 171 P.3d 988 (2007) (recognizing the limitation of the Boots decision).

In addition, as the Supreme Court in Schad recognized, a state court can interpret their own statutes as providing for alternative means not requiring unanimity or as separate crimes requiring unanimity as to each element. Schad, at 637-38. As pertaining to premeditated or aggravated murder, the Court noted that the vast majority of states do not require unanimity as to means. Schad, at 641-42 (listing cases dating back to 1903). The Court cited Oregon as an anomaly. Id. In other words, an Oregon court's determination as to a particular Oregon statute cast little doubt upon a determination already made by Washington's Supreme Court interpreting a Washington statute.

The doctrine of stare decisis requires a "clear showing that an established rule is incorrect and harmful" before precedent is abandoned. In re Stranger Creek, 77 Wn.2d 649, 653, 466 P.2d 508 (1970). The defendant fails to make that showing here.

**3. THE WPIC JURY INSTRUCTION DEFINING
“REASONABLE DOUBT” IS A CORRECT
STATEMENT OF THE LAW**

The defendant asserts that the language of WPIC 4.01 defining “reasonable doubt” as “one for which a reason exists,” is a misstatement of the law and therefore his conviction (along with every other conviction where WPIC 4.01 has been given) must be reversed. This argument has no merit. The defendant fails to cite the plethora of Supreme Court and Court of Appeals cases that have upheld WPIC 4.01, and the language used therein, and he fails to show that these cases are “incorrect and harmful,” the standard required to overturn precedent.

Here, the trial court used WPIC 4.01 to instruct the jury as follows:

The defendant has entered a plea of not guilty. That plea puts in issue every element of each crime charged. The State is the plaintiff and has the burden of proving each element of each crime beyond a reasonable doubt. The defendant has no burden of proving that a reasonable doubt exists as to these elements.

A defendant is presumed innocent. This presumption continues throughout the entire trial unless during your deliberations you find it has been overcome by the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt.

A reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists and may arise from the evidence or lack of evidence. It is such a doubt as would exist in the mind of a reasonable person after fully, fairly, and carefully considering all of the evidence or lack of evidence. If, from such consideration, you have an abiding belief in the truth of the charge, you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt.

CP 512 (emphasis added). It is the highlighted language to which the defendant complains. Ignoring the instructions as a whole, the defendant claims that the highlighted language shifts the burden of proof; in other words, that jurors would be led to believe that it is a defendant's burden to prove he or she is not guilty. The Supreme Court has found otherwise.

Jury instructions are read as a whole and in a commonsense manner. State v. Bowerman, 115 Wn.2d 794, 809, 802 P.2d 116 (1990). A court will not assume a strained reading of an instruction. State v. Moultrie, 143 Wn. App. 387, 394, 177 P.3d 776, rev. denied, 164 Wn.2d 1035 (2008). The instructions are legally sufficient if they permit the parties to argue their theories of the case, do not mislead the jury, and properly inform the jury of the applicable law. State v. Barnes, 153 Wn.2d 378, 382, 103 P.3d 1219 (2005). The instructions must define reasonable doubt and convey to the jury that the State bears the burden of proving every essential element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Bennett, 161 Wn.2d 303, 307, 165 P.3d 1241 (2007).

The latest Supreme Court case to hold that the language of WPIC 4.01 is an accurate statement of the law is State v. Bennett, supra. In addressing a challenge to a substitute instruction, the Court stated:

We have approved WPIC 4.01 and concluded that it adequately permits both the government and the accused to argue their theories of the case. . . Even if many variations of the definition

of reasonable doubt meet minimal due process requirements, the presumption of innocence is simply too fundamental, too central to the core of the foundation of our justice system not to require adherence to a clear, simple, accepted, and uniform instruction. We therefore exercise our inherent supervisory power to instruct Washington trial courts not to use the Castle instruction. We have approved WPIC 4.01 and conclude that sound judicial practice requires that this instruction be given until a better instruction is approved. ***Trial courts are instructed to use the WPIC 4.01 instruction to inform the jury of the government's burden to prove every element of the charged crime beyond a reasonable doubt.***

Bennett, 161 Wn.2d at 317-18 (emphasis added).

The Bennett case is not the first time that the Court has ruled on similar language in jury instructions. As far back as 1901, the Supreme Court addressed the following instructional language which defined reasonable doubt as “***a doubt for which a good reason exists***, - a doubt which would cause a reasonable and prudent man to hesitate and pause in a matter of importance, such as the one you are now considering.” State v. Harras, 25 Wash. 416, 421, 65 P. 774 (1901) (emphasis added). In upholding the instruction, the Court stated that “[t]his instruction is according to the great weight of authority, and is not error.” Id.

In State v. Tanzymore, the Court addressed the reasonable doubt instruction that provided that “[t]he jury is further instructed that the doubt which entitles the defendant to an acquittal ***must be a doubt for which a reason exists***.” 54 Wn.2d 290, 291 n.1, 340 P.2d 178 (1959). In rejecting

a claim that the trial court should have given a different reasonable doubt instruction, the Court held that “the court gave the standard instruction on reasonable doubt. This instruction has been accepted as a correct statement of the law for so many years, we find the assignment [of error] without merit.” Id. at 291; see also State v. Pirtle, 127 Wn.2d 628, 658, 904 P.2d 245 (1995) (“the jury instruction here follows WPIC 4.01, which previously has passed constitutional muster”), accord, State v. Nabors, 8 Wn. App. 199, 202, 505 P.2d 162 (1973).

In State v. Thompson, the defendant challenged this exact same language “argu[ing] rather strenuously that this phrase (1) infringes upon the presumption of innocence, and (2) misleads the jury because it requires them to assign a reason for their doubt in order to acquit.” 13 Wn. App. 1, 4-5, 533 P.2d 395 (1975). Rejecting the challenge, the court stated:

Although we recognize that this instruction has its detractors, it was specifically approved in State v. Tanzymore, [...] and also in State v. Nabors, [...]. We are, therefore, constrained to uphold it. We would comment only that *it does not infringe upon the constitutional right that a defendant is presumed innocent; but tells the jury when, and in what manner, they may validly conclude that the presumption of innocence has been overcome.*

Furthermore, the particular phrase, when read in the context of the entire instruction does not direct the jury to assign a reason for their doubts, but merely points out that their doubts must be based on reason, and not something

vague or imaginary. A phrase in this context has been declared satisfactory in this jurisdiction for over 70 years.

Id. (emphasis added).

The defendant fails to address these cases. Instead, he tries to equate a misconduct case involving improper closing argument with the statement of the law as contained in the jury instructions. Specifically, he claims that the jury instruction improperly requires jurors to articulate a reason for having reasonable doubt — similar to the “fill-in-the-blank” argument that the Court held improper in State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 759, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). But the defendant’s argument fails under Emery, the very case upon which he principally relies.

In Emery, the Court held that the prosecutor committed misconduct by telling the jurors that they had to articulate a reason for any doubt they found, i.e., to fill in the blank what their doubt was. But in finding that the argument itself was misconduct, the Court specifically noted that the prosecutor had “properly describ[ed] reasonable doubt as a ‘doubt for which a reason exists[.]’” 174 Wn.2d at 760. Emery only prohibits the misuse of this instruction by prosecutors in closing argument; but in so doing, it starts with the premise that the definition of reasonable doubt employed by WPIC 4.01 is correct.

The doctrine of stare decisis requires a “clear showing that an established rule is incorrect and harmful” before precedent is abandoned. In re Stranger Creek, *supra*. “The test for determining if jury instructions are misleading is not a matter of semantics, but whether the jury was misled as to its function and responsibilities under the law.” State v. Brown, 29 Wn. App. 11, 18, 627 P.2d 132 (1981). The defendant has failed to show that the Supreme Court’s decisions are wrong.¹²

**4. FINGERPRINT AND BALLISTICS EVIDENCE:
A FRYE HEARING WAS NOT REQUIRED**

In determining the admissibility of evidence based upon novel scientific theories or methods, Washington courts employ the “general acceptance” standard set forth in Frye v. United States, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923). The defendant contends that the trial court erred in admitting fingerprint and ballistics evidence without first conducting a Frye hearing. This claim has no merit. First, the defendant specifically waived objection to the admission of the ballistics evidence under Frye. Second, the defendant has provided no new evidence than was in front of this Court in

¹² The defendant’s implication that the prosecutor committed misconduct in closing is not supportable. See Def. br. at 36. In explaining to the jurors that there were two alternative ways in which they could find the defendant guilty of murder – murder based on assault and intentional murder, the prosecutor stated that, “You all must agree, however, that all of the elements of one of those alternatives have been found. And the converse is true. In order to find him not guilty of felony murder, you must find that at least one element in each alternative has been – you have a reasonable doubt to at least one element in each alternative.” 12/16/13 RP 15-16. The claim that this statement constitutes misconduct is spurious. The statement is an accurate statement of the law and no challenge to the statement was made at trial or as an assignment of error on appeal.

State v. Pigott, 181 Wn. App. 247, and other courts across the nation, that have all rejected the argument that fingerprint evidence is no longer generally accepted in the scientific community.

a. The Facts

Prior to trial, defense counsel said that he wanted to hire an expert and bring a Frye challenge to the fingerprint evidence. 5/11/12 RP 6. However, he noted that it was difficult to find an expert who would say what he needed him to say in order to raise the motion, to which the judge responded, maybe that says something about your position. Id. Subsequently, counsel stated that at least seven judges had already rejected the motion and that he just wanted to make a record and tag along with the other cases in the court of appeals. 6/1/12 RP 4; 6/15/12 RP 10. Counsel said he was not going to hire an expert, rather, he was just going to take advantage of the briefing that was already out there and file a motion for appellate purposes. 6/15/12 RP 11-12; 10/10/13 RP 63; 10/21/13 RP 25. That is exactly what he did. CP 34-117; CP 127-201.

The trial court reviewed the defense motion and noted that the defense had provided nothing new in regards to past motions the court had heard. 10/21/13 RP 29. The court denied the request to hold a Frye hearing, stating that the defense had not presented sufficient evidence which seriously questioned the continued general acceptance of latent

fingerprint evidence. 10/21/13 RP 29-30; CP 229-31. The defense then addressed the ballistics evidence, telling the court that “[t]he jurisprudential development of ballistics is a little different from fingerprints, so *I don’t have a Frye motion for that.*” 10/21/13 RP 31.

b. The Defendant’s Ballistics Evidence Claim Has Been Waived

The failure to raise a Frye challenge with the trial court constitutes waiver of the issue on appeal. In re Post, 145 Wn. App. 728, 755-56, 187 P.3d 803 (2008); In re Morgan, 161 Wn. App. 66, 85-86, 253 P.3d 394 (2011); State v. Florczak, 76 Wn. App. 55, 72, 882 P.2d 199 (1994). Here, the defendant specifically said that he was not raising a Frye issue with regards to the ballistics evidence, thus, this issue has been waived.

Additionally, on appeal, the defendant provides virtually no argument in regards to the ballistics evidence, devoting but a single paragraph to the issue and citing no case law. See Def. br. at 48. “Passing treatment of an issue or lack of reasoned argument is insufficient to merit judicial consideration.” Palmer v. Jensen, 81 Wn. App. 148, 153, 913 P.2d 413 (1996), rev’d on other grounds, 132 Wn.2d 193 (1997). Bare allegations unsupported by citation to authority, or persuasive reasoning cannot sustain the defendant’s burden. State v. Brune, 45 Wn. App. 354, 363, 725 P.2d 454 (1986).

c. A Frye Hearing Does Not Need To Be Held Before Fingerprint Evidence Is Admitted

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